Utah State University
DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate Studies** 

12-2021

# Influence of External pH and Organic Acids on Internal pH and Acid Anion Accumulation in Listeria monocytogenes and Escherichia coli

Savannah R. Branson Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

🔮 Part of the Food Science Commons, and the Nutrition Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Branson, Savannah R., "Influence of External pH and Organic Acids on Internal pH and Acid Anion Accumulation in Listeria monocytogenes and Escherichia coli" (2021). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 8390.

https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/8390

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



# INFLUENCE OF EXTERNAL PH AND ORGANIC ACIDS ON INTERNAL PH AND ACID

## ANION ACCUMULATION IN LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES

## and ESCHERICHIA COLI

by

# Savannah R. Branson

# A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

## MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

# Nutrition and Food Sciences

Approved:

Charles E. Carpenter, Ph.D. Major Professor Jeff Broadbent, Ph.D. Committee Member

Brian Nummer, Ph.D. Committee Member D. Richard Cutler, Ph.D. Interim Vice Provost for Graduate Studies

## UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY

Logan, Utah

2021

Copyright © Savannah R. Branson 2021

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

# Influence of External pH and External Organic Acids on Internal pH and Acid Anion

Accumulation in Listeria monocytogenes and Escherichia coli

by

Savannah R. Branson, Master of Science

Utah State University, 2021

Major Professor: Charles E. Carpenter, Ph.D. Department: Nutrition, Dietetics and Food Science

Organic acids are widely employed in the food industry to control growth of microbial pathogens including *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli*. There is substantial evidence that intracellular accumulation of acid anions is a major inhibitor to cell growth, and that many bacteria may combat anion accumulation by lowering their intracellular pH (pH<sub>i</sub>). In this study, we followed the accumulation of acid anion into the cell pellet and parallel changes in pH<sub>i</sub> in two human pathogenic strains of *L. monocytogenes* (N1-227 and R2-499) and in *E. coli* O157:H7 after exposure to sub-bacteriostatic levels of lactic and acetic acids at mildly acidic pH 6.

Log phase bacteria underwent 60 min habituation to treatments including a baseline control of media at pH 7.4, acid control (added HCl to pH 6), or to 4.75 mM added lactic or acetic acids plus their C<sup>14</sup> tracers. Tritiated water was also included as a tracer. Cells were harvested by centrifugation through a layer of bromododecane, and radioactivity in pellet and supernatant measured using a scintillation counter. Relative accumulation of anion was calculated as the ratio of C<sup>14</sup>/H<sup>3</sup> in the pellet divided by the ratio of C<sup>14</sup>/H<sup>3</sup> in the supernatant. Parallel experiments were performed without tracers, and pH<sub>i</sub> measured using a pHsensitive fluorescent dye. It is noteworthy that our measures of anion accumulation and pH<sub>i</sub> were independent rather than being confounded as when employing the common practice of calculating intracellular concentration of anions based on difference in internal and external pH, or conversely calculating pH<sub>i</sub> based on intracellular accumulation of acid anion.

The test strains of *Listeria* and *E. coli* accumulated up to 3 times more acetate anion into the cell pellet compared to the supernatant. *Listeria* accumulated less lactate than acetate anion, and *E. coli* did not significantly accumulate lactate. The values for anion accumulation into the pellet were much less than expected for intracellular accumulation based on previous reports and predicted by the measured difference in internal and external pH. Hence, C<sup>14</sup>-inulin (a sugar excluded from the cell interior) was employed to determine the fractional volume of pellet not available to inulin (i.e., intracellular volume) in comparison to volume of pellet available to water. That fractional volume was calculated as 0.19 for *E. coli*, and it follows that anion accumulation into the intracellular space is minimally 5X greater than measured for the entire pellet. A fractional volume of intracellular space was not measurable for the *L. monocytogenes* strains suggesting it was below the detection limit of our procedure.

Exposure of *E. coli* to acid control (pH 6) or to added organic acids did not induce a change in pH<sub>i</sub> from the baseline control (pH 7.4). In contrast, exposure of *Listeria* to the organic acids induced lowered pH<sub>i</sub> as compared to baseline in both

strains while the impact of the acid control varied within strain. The acid control induced a lowered pH<sub>i</sub> as compared to baseline in only strain R2-499 with exposure to acetic acid inducing an additional lowering of pH<sub>i</sub>.

In summary, *Listeria* and *E. coli* were exposed to non-bacteriostatic levels of external organic acids at mildly acidic pH 6. *Listeria* accumulated more acetate than lactate while mounting a defense against anion accumulation that included lowering its pH<sub>i</sub>, while *E. coli* accumulated only acetate and apparently made use of combat mechanisms other than lowering pH<sub>i</sub> not explored in this study. The methodology employed in these studies was based on independent measures of pH<sub>i</sub> and intracellular anion accumulation, and the resulting data brings into question the common, but confounding, practice of using intracellular anion accumulation as a measure of pH<sub>i</sub>, and vice versa.

(77 pages)

## PUBLIC ABSTRACT

# Influence of External pH and External Organic Acids on Internal pH and Acid Anion Accumulation in *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* Savannah R. Branson

*Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* are both among the most common microbial pathogens that cause foodborne illnesses and death. They both are capable of growing over a wide range of conditions. Organic acids are widely employed in the food industry to control growth of these pathogens to help prevent foodborne illnesses. There is substantial evidence that intracellular accumulation of organic acid anions is a major inhibitor to cell growth, and that many bacteria may combat anion accumulation by lowering their intracellular pH (pH<sub>i</sub>). In this study, we followed the accumulation of acid anion into the cell pellet and parallel changes in pH<sub>i</sub> in two human pathogenic strains of *L. monocytogenes* (N1-227 and R2-499) and in *E. coli* O157:H7 after exposure to sub-bacteriostatic levels of lactic and acetic acids at mildly acidic pH 6.

Cells were exposed to two controls, or to acetic or lactic acid. The accumulation of anions into the cell pellet and pH<sub>i</sub> was measured after 60 minutes habituation in these treatments. It is noteworthy that our measures of anion

accumulation and pHi were independent rather than being confounded as when employing the common practice of calculating intracellular concentration of anions based on difference in internal and external pH, or conversely calculating pH<sub>i</sub> based on intracellular accumulation of acid anion.

All three bacteria accumulated up to 3 times more acetate anion into the cell pellet compared to their external environment. *L. monocytogenes* accumulated less lactate than acetate anion, and *E. coli* did not significantly accumulate lactate. The values for anion accumulation into the pellet were much less than expected based on previous reports and predicted by the measured difference in internal and external pH. Exposure of *E. coli* to organic acids did not induce a change in pH<sub>i</sub> from its baseline pH<sub>i</sub>. In contrast, exposure of *L. monocytogenes* N1-227 and R2-499 to the organic acids induced lowered pH<sub>i</sub> as compared to baseline in both strains.

In summary, *Listeria* and *E. coli* were exposed to non-bacteriostatic levels of external organic acids at mildly acidic pH 6. *Listeria* accumulated more acetate than lactate while mounting a defense against anion accumulation that included lowering its pH<sub>i</sub>, while *E. coli* accumulated only acetate and apparently made use of combat mechanisms other than lowering pH<sub>i</sub> not explored in this study. The methodology employed in these studies was based on independent measures of pH<sub>i</sub> and intracellular anion accumulation, and the resulting data brings into question the common, but confounding, practice of using intracellular anion accumulation as a measure of pH<sub>i</sub>, and vice versa.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisors, Chuck Carpenter and Jeff Broadbent, for providing me with this project and the resources to complete it. I would not have been able to do it without their advice, encouragement, and editing skills. I am grateful as well for all those I met in the food science program at Utah State, both faculty and students. I made so many memories and friends here that I will always cherish. When I first came to Utah State it felt like home and I am proud to be an Aggie.

I would also like to thank my family. My mom and grandma specifically have always supported my educational pursuits. I always view them as my pioneersbecause of everything they did I am here today. I am thankful for my loving husband. We got married during my Master's program and he is the best thing I received from choosing to move to Logan, Utah. He put up with a lot while I was writing my thesis. I'd also like to acknowledge my two cats, Piper and Porcupine, and my dog Percy. My cats tried to contribute to my thesis by walking across my keyboard. They boost my morale more than any human can sometimes!

Also, a big thanks to my boss at Pepperidge Farms, Kaleb Pugsley, for giving me a job! And supporting me in my master's program and giving me real world food safety experience.

This project was funded by BUILD Dairy and I sincerely thank them for providing me with a means to obtain my Master's degree.

#### Savannah R. Branson

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
PUBLIC ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiii
CHAPTER I	2
Listeria monocytogenes	2
Listeriosis infection	3
Escherichia coli	4
<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 infection	5
Organic acids	6
Organic acids as antimicrobials	6
Anion Accumulation	8
Intracellular pH	8
Measuring intracellular pH by Fluorescence Staining Technique	
Preliminary Studies	
CHAPTER II.	15
Abstract	
Introduction	
Objectives	
Materials and Methods	21
Bacterial strains and growth conditions	21
Experimental overview and statistical analysis	22

	Х
Accumulation of organic acid	.26
Measurement of pH <sub>i</sub>	. 27
Results and Discussion	31
Acid anion accumulation	.31
pH <sub>i</sub> values	.33
Conclusions & Further Research	35
REFERENCES	.38
APPENDICES	.53
Appendix A: Anova Data- Measurement of pHi	53
Appendix B: Additional Data from Measurement of pH <sub>i</sub>	56
Appendix C: T-Tests from Accumulation of Organic Acid & Inulin	61

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	]	Page
2-1	Strains selected for this study	21
2-2	Objective 1 habituation treatments	23
2-3	Objective 1A habituation treatments	24
2-4	Objective 2 habituation treatments	25
A-1	ANOVA for measurement of pH <sub>i</sub> in <i>L. monocytogenes</i> R2-499	54
A-2	ANOVA for measurement of pHi in <i>L. monocytogenes</i> N1-227	54
A-3	ANOVA for measurement of pHi in <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	55
C-1	T-test for accumulation of organic acid in <i>L. monocytogenes</i> R2-499	61
C-2	T-test for accumulation of organic acid in <i>L. monocytogenes</i> N1-227	62
C-3	T-test for accumulation of organic acid in L. monocytogenes N1-227	63
C-4	T-test from inulin control comparing N1-227 supernatant & pellet	64
C-5	T-test from inulin control comparing R2-499 supernatant & pellet	64
C-6	T-test from inulin control comparing <i>E. coli</i> supernatant & pellet	65

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	2	Page
2-1	pH <sub>i</sub> calibration curves for <i>L. monocytogenes</i> and <i>E. coli</i> at mid log phas	e29
2-2	Acid anion accumulation values	29
2-3	pH <sub>i</sub> values after one hour	34
B-1	Polynomial fitting for strain <i>L. monocytogenes</i> N1-227	56
B-2	Polynomial fitting for strain <i>L. monocytogenes</i> R2-499	57
B-3	Polynomial fitting for strain <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	58
B-4	Preliminary results for <i>L. monocytogenes</i> N1-227 from tracking pH <sub>i</sub>	59
B-5	Preliminary results for <i>L. monocytogenes</i> R2-499 from tracking pHi	60

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AC- acetic acid

LA- lactic acid

HCl- hydrochloric acid

BC- baseline control

NaOH- sodium hydroxide

KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> -potassium phosphate

STEC- shiga toxin producing Escherichia coli

EHEC- enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli

TSB- tryptic soy broth

TSA- tryptic soy agar

CFSE- 5(6)-carboxyfluorescein diacetate N-succinimidyl ester, a membrane

permeant fluorescein-based dye

 $LT_{50}$ - the lethal time until 50% population mortality

DPM- disintegrations per minute

# CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Listeria monocytogenes

*Listeria monocytogenes* is a gram positive, non-spore forming, facultative anaerobic bacteria (20, 72). *L. monocytogenes* is environmentally ubiquitous. It lives saprophytically in the soil and on plants, and it can persist in the intestines of animals. Its survival can be influenced by temperature, the humidity of the soil, and the motility of the bacterium (54). *Listeria* is capable of transitioning into a pathogen when it encounters stressors, such as when it is ingested (23). These stressors include reduced oxygen, bile, endogenous microbiota and low pH (23, 48, 63). Because of its ubiquitous presence, *L. monocytogenes* has the potential to contaminate food processing facilities and food products (40).

*L. monocytogenes* also has growth and survival properties that make it difficult for the food industry to control its growth. It is psychotropic and can grow at temperatures as low as 0°C and as high as 50°C. It grows within a wide pH range, from 4.6-9.5. It can grow at water activity less than 0.93 and in a concentration of salt up to 10% (46, 44). It is capable of transport and cross contamination through water, air, animals, and humans. It can also survive and persist in biofilms (20, 25, 64). *Listeria* can survive in hostile environments within a food processing facility including equipment, drains, and wet floors in refrigerated rooms of processing facilities (3).

#### **Listeriosis infection**

Listeriosis is the infection in humans caused by the consumption of food contaminated with *L. monocytogenes.* In the United States, the incidence of listeriosis is relatively low-only 2.4 cases per million in the population (33). The CDC reported 126 cases of listeriosis in 2018, 121 of which resulted in hospitalization (96%) and 26 resulted in death (21%) (66). Thirteen different serotypes of *L. monocytogenes* have been described, and serotypes 1/2a, 1/2b, and 4b have been associated with most of the foodborne infection cases (22, 72). They cause more than 95% of clinical cases of listeriosis (59).

This thesis in particular studied a 1/2a strain and a 4b strain. There are four evolutionary serovar-related lineages (I-IV) identified for *Listeria*. 4b is in lineage one which is associated with large outbreaks and sporadic human cases. 1/2a is in lineage two which includes the majority of isolates from food and the environment (50). Serotype 4b is responsible for 35-50% of sporadic human cases of listeriosis and for all major foodborne outbreaks of the illness in North America and Europe since the 1980s (59).

Food sources that may harbor *Listeria* include ready to eat deli meats and hot dogs, raw meat and poultry, raw milk, raw vegetables, soft cheeses (particularly those made with non-pasteurized milk), raw and smoked seafood, and ice cream. Potential sources of contamination include food workers, raw materials, and food processing environments. However, the most frequent source of contamination is food contact surfaces (22, 57). *L. monocytogenes* can colonize the intestine causing diarrhea and fever in healthy adults, similar to other foodborne illnesses. Because of its similarity to other foodborne illnesses and relative mildness in healthy adults, it often goes undiagnosed. However, listeriosis can be much more dangerous to a certain portion of the population due to its propensity to escape the gut and invade other cells, including the nervous system. Pregnant women, older adults, and people with weakened immune systems are at higher risk of contracting invasive listeriosis (14). A listeriosis infection during pregnancy can result in abortion or early birth. In newborn children the infection can result in conjunctivitis, late-onset meningitis, and pneumonia. An invasive listeriosis infection in the elderly and immunocompromised causes nervous system infection, sepsis, and endocarditis (12).

## Escherichia coli

*Escherichia coli* is a gram negative, rod-shaped, facultative anaerobic bacterium. Most strains are harmless and coexist with humans and animals in the intestinal tract. However, some strains are pathogenic (31). This research focuses entirely on *E. coli* O157:H7, an enterohemorrhagic (EHEC) strain of *E. coli*. *E. coli* O157:H7 strains are among the most common causes of *E. coli* foodborne illness owing to the Shiga toxins produced by the strain (13). EHEC strains produce Shigalike toxins (38).

*E. coli* O157:H7 is a hardy organism. It can survive in food, soil, and water. The pathogen can survive in cattle water troughs contaminated with feces for longer than eight months and persist in the environment of farms for periods of several years (29). Most human infections are caused by consuming water or food contaminated with bovine feces (1). The pathogen is able to survive and adapt to varying pH, osmolarity, and temperatures in its environment (31).

## E. coli 0157:H7 infection

*E. coli* 0157:H7 is similar to *Listeria* in that it is tied to fewer cases of foodborne illness than other pathogens like *Salmonella* or *Campylobacter* though it results in higher hospitalization and death rates than those pathogens. Five pathogens are responsible for 90% of food related deaths, and *E. coli* 0157:H7 is one of them. The full list, ordered from highest to lowest occurrence, includes *Salmonella* (31%), *Listeria* (28%), *Toxoplasma* (21%), Norwalk-like viruses (7%), *Campylobacter* (5%), and *E. coli* 0157:H7 (3%) (37).

Symptoms start three to four days after ingestion of food or liquid that contains the bacteria and subsequent colonization of the intestine (15). Raw meat, raw milk, vegetables, and fruits have been associated with outbreaks. The infectious dose is very low- less than a thousand bacteria can cause illness (58). Symptoms include stomach cramps, diarrhea, bloody diarrhea, and vomiting. Some develop a low-grade fever. Most people feel better within 5-7 days of onset (15). However, around 5-10% of people develop hemolytic uremic syndrome, a life-threatening condition that causes the kidneys to stop working and can result in serious problems. Hemolytic uremic syndrome occurs when toxins from the infection cross the intestine into the bloodstream (67). Most people recover in a few weeks, but for others this condition can cause permanent damage or death (15).

## **Organic acids**

Organic acids are generally recognized as safe (GRAS) by the FDA, and they are widely utilized as acidulants, pH adjusters, flavoring agents, and antioxidants (51, 52, 53), They are also utilized as food preservatives due to their antimicrobial activity. Acetic acid is commonly used to inhibit yeasts and bacteria and its primary food use as a food additive includes include both dairy products and meat product, while lactic acid is primarily used to inhibit bacteria in meat and fermented foods (34).

The USDA requires beef slaughter facilities to have one carcass intervention treatment due to the likelihood of *E. coli* 0157:H7 contamination (2). Both acetic and lactic acids are also used to decontaminate meat surfaces of pathogens such as *Salmonella, Escherichia coli,* and *Listeria monocytogenes* (4). The USDA does verification testing on ready to eat products based on risk of contamination with *L. monocytogenes,* and formulating products with lactic and/or acetic acids lowers the testing requirements owing to their recognized anti-Listerial activity (68).

## Organic acids as antimicrobials

In their protonated form organic acids are charge neutral, and many low molecular weight acids are thus membrane soluble and able to enter the cytoplasm freely by diffusion. *L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* maintain a pH<sub>i</sub> close to neutral, so exposure to these acids results in immediate acid dissociation and the release of protons and anions inside the cell (10) where they may exert antimicrobial activity primarily through two mechanisms. The first is that proton release acidifies the cytoplasm, which can result in the uncoupling of energy production and regulation,

and the second is the intracellular accumulation of dissociated acid anion (34). Accumulation of anion will increase osmolarity of the cell, leading to increased turgor pressure (48). If intracellular proton release exceeds the buffering ability of the cytoplasm or the capability of the proton efflux systems, the pH<sub>i</sub> will decrease and cellular functions will be inhibited (5). The hypothesized extent of intracellular anion accumulation has been described by Carpenter and Broadbent (10) to be driven by the difference in external and internal pH, and this is discussed in greater detail in the preliminary studies section of this thesis.

The work of Wang et al. (53) suggests that the antimicrobial effect of lactic acid is the result of morphological and physiological changes in bacterial cells. Their work found that exposure to 0.5% lactic acid (approximately 67mM) for two hours completely inactivated *E. coli, Salmonella enteritidis* and *L. monocytogenes*, and that exposure to lactic acid resulted in leakage of proteins from all three pathogens. The content and activity of bacterial proteins were disrupted. Analysis of those proteins confirmed that the lactic acid disrupted the cytoplasmic membrane, and damage to the cytoplasmic membrane was observed in TEM images (53). Similarly, it was found that the fatty acid composition of the membrane of *L. monocytogenes* was altered by exposure to organic acids (61).

There are many ways that *Listeria* may combat the effects of organic acids. *Listeria* may change its membrane composition to adapt (61, 76), lower its pH<sub>i</sub> (69) or alter its export systems (76). The extent to which these mechanisms occur in the strains used in this study are not known, especially as it pertains to mildly acidic environments and levels of external organic acid that are less than bacteriostatic thereby allowing the cell to actively adapt to the imposed stress.

### **Anion Accumulation**

Other studies have looked at measuring the accumulation of organic acid anion when cells are subjected to a weak acid treatment. One study in particular measured anion accumulation into *E. coli* cells to understand the impact of anion accumulation of cellular pools of K<sup>+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup>. To determine acetate accumulation, cells exposed to 8mM of acetate were exposed to C<sup>14</sup> labeled acetate and H<sup>3</sup> inulin. Inulin is an extracellular marker to help determine the internal cell volume and subsequently internal acetate concentration (42). Inulin is a sugar excluded from the cell interior. The purpose of using inulin is to determine what is "external" to the cell (27). Cells were separated from the supernatant by centrifugation through bromododecane. Internal acetate concentration was calculated from knowledge of the pKa of acetate, the external pH, and the accumulation ratio. A cytoplasmic volume was assumed in the calculation (42). This is the same method used for pH<sub>i</sub> determination, except that method utilizes C<sup>14</sup> labeled benzoic acid (28, 42, 71). The study found that exposure of *E. coli* to 8mM of acetate lowered pH<sub>i</sub> from 7.8 to 7 after two minutes of its addition, and cells recovered to a pH<sub>i</sub> of 7.4-7.5 after ten minutes (42).

## Intracellular pH

Maintaining an optimal intracellular pH (pH<sub>i</sub>) is vital for optimal cellular functions, so changes in pH<sub>i</sub> can detrimentally affect many of those functions. pH<sub>i</sub> can

affect cellular metabolism, intracellular messengers, activation, growth,

proliferation, and membrane flow & conductance (41). *L. monocytogenes* is reported to maintain a pH<sub>i</sub> = 8 when the external pH ranges from 5 to 9 (8, 45), and invokes several mechanisms to maintain pH<sub>i</sub> when the cell is exposed to external acid stress. These mechanisms include systems involving F<sub>0</sub>F<sub>1</sub>-ATPase (17), arginine and agmatine deiminases (ADI and AgDi, 32), and glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD, 21). The ADI, AgDI, and GAD systems are involved in resistance to extreme acid conditions. The F<sub>0</sub>F<sub>1</sub>-ATPase operon is involved in ATR initiation under mild acid stress (7). Habituation of two *Listeria* strains to organic acids significantly increased expression of genes related to the ADI and GAD systems compared to *Listeria* not habituated to organic acids (30), the same two strains are used in the research reported in this thesis.

Similar to *L. monocytogenes, E. coli* is reported to maintain a pH<sub>i</sub> from 7.2 to 7.8 while growing in medium with pH ranging from 5 to 9 (35). One study found that when external pH was lowered from 7.5 to 5.5, cytoplasmic pH dropped within 20 seconds to a pH ranging from 5.6-6.5. Rapid recovery occurred after 30 seconds to bring pH<sub>i</sub> up, and the cells continued to recover slowly over the following five minutes (56). Another study similarly found that *E. coli* cells exposed to M63 growth media at pH 5.5 were able to recover their pH<sub>i</sub> to 7.0-7.5 within two minutes of exposure to the lower external pH (35). Weak organic acids in comparison are predicted to have additional antimicrobial activity owing to their internal accumulation (10, 11). Additional studies have found that *E. coli* can survive in extremely acidic environments, pH 2.0 to 2.5 through three different acid resistance

mechanisms. These acid resistance mechanisms are what allow the pathogen to survive passage through stomach acid (11).

### Measuring intracellular pH by Fluorescence Staining Technique

Internal pH in bacteria can be followed using a pH-sensitive fluorescence dye (16). One commonly used fluorophore is 5(6)-carboxyfluorescein diacetate N-succinimidyl ester (CFSE) that is very sensitive to pH excited at its peak wavelength 490 nm but is pH insensitive at 435 nm (47). This property allows for a dual-excitation fluorescent ratio that is sensitive to changes in pH especially around the pKa of fluorescein (6.4). This fluorescent ratio is relatively insensitive to alterations in the focal plane, bleaching, the amount of fluorophore present, cell thickness, and leakage of the dye in that they affect both wavelengths equally (9).

(CFSE) is a membrane permeant fluorescein-based dye. The two acetate chains make the compound permeable to the membrane. Once the dye is inside of the cell, the acetate groups are removed by intracellular esterases. The carboxyfluorescein then exits the cell at a much slower rate, allowing time for CFSE to covalently couple with intracellular amine groups through its succinimidyl moiety. This forms a stable amide bond. They are highly reactive with amines at neutral pH.

Many of the conjugates CFSE makes are short lived molecules or are capable of passing through the plasma membrane. Because of this, a lot of the CFSE taken up by the cells are lost within 24 hours (39). At 37 °C, the intracellular concentrations of CFSE have been observed to diminish by 30-40% within ten minutes after washing (Han and Burgess 2010). As long as enough dye remains in the cell to produce a measurable signal, pH<sub>i</sub> can be measured because it uses a ratio rather than absolute value. There are enough long-living molecules that cells can be measured for their fluorescence for several weeks after labeling if needed (39).

A standard curve needs to be established to measure pH<sub>i</sub>. The standard curve relates fluorescence values to pH<sub>i</sub> values. pH<sub>i</sub> is fixed using ethanol or ionophores (9). A separate curve needs to be created for each strain to account for differences between strains.

Cheng et al. (16) demonstrated that a simple microplate-based fluorescence method could be used to determine the pH<sub>i</sub> of *Listeria monocytogenes* cells labeled with CFSE. Those researchers subjected *Listeria* to acid stress and measured the intracellular response over time. They found that at certain pH conditions, organic acids lowered pH<sub>i</sub> significantly more than hydrochloric acid. Additionally, the study found that three virulent strains of *L. monocytogenes* were more resistant to the acidic stress than an avirulent strain of *Listeria* tested (16). Another study using this fluorescence method demonstrated that *E. coli* could recover intracellular pH within 2 minutes after exposure to an external medium of 5.5 (35).

## **Preliminary Studies**

Carpenter and Broadbent (10) proposed that the intracellular accumulation of organic acid anions in mildly acidic environments is due to two factors, the pH gradient between the inside and outside of the cell external concentration of acid anion. Their predictive equation was based on an algebraic manipulation of the Henderson-Hasselbach equation.

1. Protonated organic acid freely transverses the cell membrane:

11

 $[HA]_{out} = H[A]_{in}$ 

 Once inside the cell, the protonated acid dissociates according to the Henderson-Hasselbach equation.

 $[A^{-}]_{in} = antilog(pH_{in}-pKa) \times [HA]_{in}$ 

3. Equation 1 substituted into equation 2:

[A<sup>-</sup>]<sub>in</sub> = antilog(pH<sub>in</sub>-pKa) x [HA]<sub>out</sub>

 Protonated acid outside of the cell is also defined by the Henderson-Hasselbach equation.

[A<sup>-</sup>]<sub>in</sub> = antilog(pH<sub>in</sub>-pKa) x ([A<sup>-</sup>]out/antilog(pH<sub>out</sub>-pKa))

5. Using algebra:

[A<sup>-</sup>]<sub>in</sub> = [A<sup>-</sup>]<sub>out</sub> x antilog(pH<sub>in</sub>-pH<sub>out</sub>)

6. Protonated acid anions are released equally from acid dissociation.

 $[A^{-}]_{in} = [H^{+}]_{released} = [A^{-}]_{out} \times antilog(pH_{in}-pH_{out})$ 

Because *L. monocytogenes* is reported to maintain a relatively constant pH<sub>i</sub> when the external pH ranges from 5 to 9 (8, 45), it was hypothesized that the intracellular accumulation of anions is mainly driven by external pH and external anion concentration (10). *E. coli* can also maintain its pH<sub>i</sub> so this should hold true for it as well (35). Accumulation of anion within the cells will increase osmolarity and lead to increased turgor pressure. The cell may combat this by excreting the anion itself or excess H<sup>+</sup> (48).

Other researchers have focused on the external protonated acid driving internalization of acid anion. In these studies researchers control pH and either the concentration of protonated acid or total acid in the growth media, which leaves external anion concentration to vary depending on the pK<sub>a</sub> of the acids involved (80, 81, 82). Carpenter and Broadbent assert in their hypothesis paper that external protonated acid is merely a shuttle, not a driving force for intracellular anion accumulation. Their hypothesis paper indicates that a failure to control external anion concentration has confounded results and likely led to misleading conclusions regarding the antimicrobial action of organic acids (10). The following three studies were designed with this in mind.

Zhang et al. (60) recently tested the inducible resistance of *L. monocytogenes* to acid and bile. Acid and bile are both factors related to the bacteria's survival in the GI tract. Strains were grown in TSB at pH 7.4 (baseline control) or at pH 6.0 containing 0 (HCl control) or 4.75 mM organic acids (L-lactic acid, levulinic acid or acetic acid). Cells were harvested at mid-log phase and then challenged in medium acidified with HCl to pH 3 for one hour. Growth of *Listeria monocytogenes* in TSB at pH 6.0 with organic acids induced more than 1 log survival against the acid challenge test compared to the hydrochloric acid control. The results indicated that the exposure of certain strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* to organic acids under mildly acidic conditions can induce acid resistance, and this may increase the virulence by promoting survival in the GI tract. Past research also suggests that the use of organic acids in the food industry may be increasing virulence of *Listeria* (48, 55). The paper hypothesized that the increase in acid resistance after habituation to the organic acids was linked to intracellular accumulation of organic acids (60).

Zhang et. al (61) also studied changes in the fatty acid composition of *L. monocytogenes* when it was habituated to organic acids. Habituation to organic acids increased five of six branched chained fatty acids (BFCAs) and lowered levels of 15 carbon fatty acids. The study suggested that exposure of *Listeria* to organic acids induced resistance to acid through changes in membrane composition.

The third and most recent study looked at the impact of habituation to acetic and lactic acid on virulence, acid resistance, and bile resistance in *Listeria monocytogenes* (30). Habituation to organic acid resulted in differential expression of genes involved with acid and bile resistance genes as well as genes for virulence, membrane transport, cell motility, quorum sensing and carbohydrate and amino acid metabolism. The study supported the hypothesis that habituation to organic acid can induce *in situ* virulence in *Listeria monocytogenes* and gave a comprehensive review of the mechanisms it uses to adapt to organic acids. Li (30) also determined the in vivo virulence of *L. monocytogenes* using the *Galleria mellonella* wax worm model. Virulence was determined by injecting cells into *G. mellonella* larvae. After injection, both the survival of *G. mellonella* and the *L. monocytogenes* growth kinetics in the larvae were evaluated. The lethal time until 50% population mortality (LT<sub>50</sub>) was used as a measurement for virulence. When *Listeria* was habituated to organic acid, the LT<sub>50</sub> significantly decreased.

#### **CHAPTER II.**

# ESCHERICHIA COLI AND LISTERIA MONOCYTOGENES ACCUMULATE ACID ANION AND ALTER PHI IN RESPONSE TO ORGANIC ACIDS

#### Abstract

Organic acids are widely employed in the food industry to control growth of microbial pathogens including *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli*. There is substantial evidence that intracellular accumulation of acid anions is a major inhibitor to cell growth, and that many bacteria may combat anion accumulation by lowering their intracellular pH (pH<sub>i</sub>). In this study, we followed the accumulation of acid anion into the cell pellet and parallel changes in pH<sub>i</sub> in two human pathogenic strains of *L. monocytogenes* (N1-227 and R2-499) and in *E. coli* O157:H7 after exposure to sub-bacteriostatic levels of lactic and acetic acids at mildly acidic pH 6.

Log phase bacteria underwent 60 min habituation to treatments including a baseline control of media at pH 7.4, acid control (added HCl to pH 6), or to 4.75 mM added lactic or acetic acids plus their C<sup>14</sup> tracers. Tritiated water was also included as a tracer. Cells were harvested by centrifugation through a layer of bromododecane, and radioactivity in pellet and supernatant measured using a scintillation counter. Relative accumulation of anion was calculated as the ratio of C<sup>14</sup>/H<sup>3</sup> in the pellet divided by the ratio of C<sup>14</sup>/H<sup>3</sup> in the supernatant. Parallel experiments were performed without tracers, and pH<sub>i</sub> measured using a pHsensitive fluorescent dye. It is noteworthy that our measures of anion accumulation and pH<sub>i</sub> were independent rather than being confounded as when employing the common practice of calculating intracellular concentration of anions based on difference in internal and external pH, or conversely calculating pH<sub>i</sub> based on intracellular accumulation of acid anion.

The test strains of *Listeria* and *E. coli* accumulated up to 3 times more acetate anion into the cell pellet compared to the supernatant. *Listeria* accumulated less lactate than acetate anion, and *E. coli* did not significantly accumulate lactate. The values for anion accumulation into the pellet were much less than expected for intracellular accumulation based on previous reports and predicted by the measured difference in internal and external pH. Hence, C<sup>14</sup>-inulin (a sugar excluded from the cell interior) was employed to determine the fractional volume of pellet not available to inulin (i.e., intracellular volume) in comparison to volume of pellet available to water. That fractional volume was calculated as 0.19 for *E. coli*, and it follows that anion accumulation into the intracellular space is minimally 5X greater than measured for the entire pellet. A fractional volume of intracellular space was not measurable for the *L. monocytogenes* strains suggesting it was below the detection limit of our procedure.

Exposure of *E. coli* to acid control (pH 6) or to added organic acids did not induce a change in pH<sub>i</sub> from the baseline control (pH 7.4). In contrast, exposure of *Listeria* to the organic acids induced lowered pH<sub>i</sub> as compared to baseline in both strains while the impact of the acid control varied within strain. The acid control induced a lowered pH<sub>i</sub> as compared to baseline in only strain R2-499 with exposure to acetic acid inducing an additional lowering of pH<sub>i</sub>.

In summary, *Listeria* and *E. coli* were exposed to non-bacteriostatic levels of external organic acids at mildly acidic pH 6. *Listeria* accumulated more acetate than

lactate while mounting a defense against anion accumulation that included lowering its pH<sub>i</sub>, while *E. coli* accumulated only acetate and apparently made use of combat mechanisms other than lowering pH<sub>i</sub> not explored in this study. The methodology employed in these studies was based on independent measures of pH<sub>i</sub> and intracellular anion accumulation, and the resulting data brings into question the common, but confounding, practice of using intracellular anion accumulation as a measure of pH<sub>i</sub>, and vice versa.

#### Introduction

*Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* are pathogens of concern for foodborne illness, and each is among the top five causes of food-related death (37). Both pathogens are hardy organisms that can survive in many different types of environments, including food production facilities (29, 40). The food industry often uses organic acids in the environment and as food additives to limit growth of these, and other, pathogens. For example, acetic and lactic acids are used to decontaminate meat surfaces of *E. coli* and *L. monocytogenes* (4) and as antilisterial additive in meat products (18).

It has been hypothesized that a primary mechanism by which organic acids exert antimicrobial activity is their intracellular accumulation of acid anions (34), and that such accumulation is driven by the difference in external and internal pH (10). It is understood that some bacteria employ a lowering of their internal pH as a primary mechanism to combat accumulation of organic acid anions (69, 70). Other researchers have focused on the external protonated acid driving internalization of acid anion (80, 81, 82). Carpenter and Broadbent assert in their hypothesis paper that external protonated acid is merely a shuttle, not a driving force for intracellular anion accumulation. Their hypothesis paper indicates that a failure to control external anion concentration has confounded results and likely led to misleading conclusions regarding the antimicrobial action of organic acids (10).

Hence, this study explored the extent to which mid-log phase cells of two human pathogenic strains of *L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* accumulate acid anions and respond with altered pH<sub>i</sub> when exposed to less-than-bactericidal levels of organic acids at mildly acidic pH. External concentration of organic acids was set at 4.75mM for both lactic and acetic acid as done in previous studies with the two *Listeria* strains.

The approach to this research was unique. Here intracellular pH (pH<sub>i</sub>) and intracellular anion accumulation are measured in two separate but parallel experiments. In past studies, pH<sub>i</sub> and intracellular anion accumulation have been measured together (28, 42). pH<sub>i</sub> in this research was measured separately to remove confounding factors. Past studies used a similar protocol to measure intracellular acid anion accumulation with C<sup>14</sup>-labeled acetate and inulin, but there were differences in the approach to handling the data and developing the final dependent variables (28, 42). In the prior work, the cell pellet was dried and the internal acetate concentration was calculated utilizing a previously established relationship between dry cell weight and internal cell volume. pH<sub>i</sub> was subsequently calculated as predicted by the Henderson-Hasselbach equation (28, 42). This determine a relative accumulation value in the pellet in comparison to the external environment rather than actual internal concentration in mM, and also employed independent means of measuring pH<sub>i</sub>.

#### **Objectives**

This study explored how *L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* respond to organic acids in mildly acidic pH environments. The research is based on the hypothesis that intracellular accumulation of acid anions by bacteria in slightly acidic environments is driven by two predictive factors, external anion concentration and external acidity (10). Here, we describe the extent to which mid-log phase cells of two human pathogenic strains of *L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* accumulate acid anions and respond with altered pH<sub>i</sub> when exposed to less-than-bacteriostatic levels of organic acids at mildly acidic pH. This was chosen so that cells are exposed to environments where they are under stress but are given the opportunity to adapt. It is useful to understand a situation like this because it may happen in a food industry setting- where acid may accumulate in drain for example. This thesis had two objectives employing 2 strains of L. monocytogenes and 1 strain of E. coli. The same two Listeria strains have been studied multiple times in the past decade by this lab and this research continues to study the phenomena of these two strains (30, 60, 61). The strain of *E. coli* was used as an outside control because it is gram negative and has been studied by other researchers (42).

- Determine accumulation of acid anion into the cell pellets after 1 hour exposure to 4.75mM lactic or acetic acid at mildly acidic pH 6.
  - a. Determine concentration of inulin associated with the cell pellets after1 hour exposure to inulin.
- Determine pH<sub>i</sub> after 1 hour exposure to a baseline control (pH 7.4), an acid control (pH 6), 4.75mM lactic acid (pH 6), and 4.75mM acetic acid (pH 6).

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Bacterial strains and growth conditions

Two different strains of *L. monocytogenes* were used (Table 2-1). These two strains have previously been shown to mount an inducible resistance to both acid and bile in response to organic acids (60) and represent the two serotypes that are most commonly virulent in humans. The two strains have also been studied extensively under the same conditions set forward in this research (30, 60, 61). R2-499 is serotype 1/2a and N1-227 is 4b. One strain of *E. coli* 0157:H7 was selected for this study as well as an outside control.

Bacteria	Strain	Source
L. monocytogenes	FSL R2-499	Human isolate associated with US outbreak linked to sliced turkey (60)
L. monocytogenes	FLS N1-227	Food isolate associated with US outbreak (60)
<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	H1730	Human isolate associated with a lettuce outbreak (62)

Table 2-1. Strains selected for this study

Original cultures were stored as frozen stock cultures at -80°C in tryptic soy broth (TSB, pH=7.4; Becton, Dickinson and Company, Sparks, MD) supplemented with 20% v/v glycerol. Prior to use, cultures were propagated on tryptic soy agar (TSA; Becton, Dickinson and Company, Sparks, MD) plates and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. A single colony was transferred from the TSA plate into TSB and incubated overnight at 37°C with shaking (220 rpm).

Overnight working cultures were harvested by centrifugation (2500 x g for 10 min; Sorvall RT1, Thermo Scientific, Germany) then diluted to an optical density at 600nm (OD<sub>600</sub>) of 0.03 in TSB. A 1% inoculum of cells was transferred into 10mL TSB (pH 7.4) and incubated at 37°C with shaking (220rpm) into mid-log phase, 3 hours for *E. coli* and 4 hours for *Listeria*. Cells were individually collected by centrifugation and used.

### Experimental overview and statistical analysis

#### **Objective 1**

Each bacterial strain was grown to mid log phase in standard media and conditions, then cells were harvested and resuspended in habituation media for one hour. Habituation media included tryptic soy broth (TSB) at pH 6 containing 4.75mM lactic or acetic acid, each spiked with the respective isotope-labeled organic acid (Table 2-2). Spike was present for the entire hour cells were grown in habituation treatment. Cells were separated by centrifugation, and C<sup>14</sup> labeled organic acid and H<sup>3</sup> water was measured in both the pellet and supernatant. The ratio of C<sup>14</sup>:H<sup>3</sup> in each pellet and supernatant is reflective of relative concentration. This relative concentration in the pellet compared to relative concentration in the supernatant allowed for calculation of an accumulation factor.

Treatment Name	Media	рН	Organic acid concentration	Tritiated water	C <sup>14</sup> Isotope Spike
Lactic Acid (LA)	TSB	6	4.75mM lactic acid	10 uCi	1 uCi lactic acid
Acetic Acid (AC)	TSB	6	4.75mM acetic acid	10 uCi	1 uCi acetic acid

Table 2-2. Objective 1 habituation treatments

Acid anion accumulation values were calculated as:

(C<sup>14</sup> pellet counts/H<sup>3</sup> pellet counts) (C<sup>14</sup> supernatant counts/H<sup>3</sup> supernatant counts)

Statistical analysis was done using a t-test with single treatment of habituation media that included two levels, lactic and acetic acid. The dependent measurement was the calculated accumulation factor. The treatment means for anion accumulation were deemed significant if the 95% CI was greater than 1. Significant differences in means of the treatment levels were identified by P<0.05. All data reported is a mean of four independent experiments, with three replications per experiment.

## **Objective 1A**

Each bacterial strain was grown to mid log phase, then cells were resuspended in habituation media. Cells were habituated for one hour in tryptic soy broth (TSB) at pH 6 containing C<sup>14</sup> labeled inulin. Habituation media was spiked with isotopes (Table 2-3). Spike was present for the entire hour cells were grown in
habituation treatment. Cells were separated by centrifugation, and C<sup>14</sup> labeled inulin and H<sup>3</sup> water was measured in both the pellet and supernatant.

Treatment Name	Media	рН	Organic acid concentration	Tritiated water	C <sup>14</sup> Isotope Spike
Inulin control (IC)	TSB	6	0 mM	10 uCi	1 uCi inulin

Table 2-3. Objective 1A habituation treatments

This approach did not employ calculations of absolute concentration. The ratio of C<sup>14</sup>:H<sup>3</sup> in each pellet and supernatant is reflective of relative concentration. This relative concentration in the pellet compared to relative concentration in the supernatant was used to calculate the internal cell space as fractional volume of the pellet. Fractional internal volume was determined by comparing the average C<sup>14</sup>/H<sup>3</sup> values of the pellet to the supernatant. If their means were not significantly different (P<0.05), we concluded there was no measurable fractional internal volume. The fractional internal volume found in the pellet was calculated as 1 - [(the fraction of system total volume available to inulin in pellet) / (the fraction of total system volume available to <sup>3</sup>H in pellet)]. More specifically, this was calculated from:

(C<sup>14</sup> pellet counts/ (C<sup>14</sup> counts pellet+ C<sup>14</sup> counts supernatant) (H<sup>3</sup> pellet counts/H<sup>3</sup> counts pellet+ H<sup>3</sup> counts supernatant)

1-

Data was analyzed using a t-test at P<0.05 to evaluate if the supernatant had significantly higher relative concentration of inulin than found in the pellet, and if significant the internal cell space was calculated as a fraction of the total pellet volume available to water. All data reported is a mean of four independent experiments, with three replications per experiment.

## Objective 2

Each bacterial strain was grown to mid log phase, then cells were resuspended in one of four habituation media (Table 2-4). All treatments besides the baseline control were adjusted to pH 6 with hydrochloric acid, an anion-free acid. The two other acid treatments contained 4.75 mM added L-lactic acid (pKa 3.88) or acetic acid (pKa 4.76). After an hour in habituation media pH<sub>i</sub> was determined using a pH sensitive fluorescent dye, and employing a standard curve previously established for each bacterial strain.

Treatment	рН	mM organic acid
Baseline control (BC)	7.4	N/A
Acid control (HCL)	6	N/A
Lactic Acid (LA)	6	4.75 lactic acid
Acetic Acid (AC)	6	4.75 acetic acid

 Table 2-4. Objective 2 habituation treatments

Statistical analysis was done using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with single treatment of habituation media that included four levels; BC, HCL, LA and AC (Table 2-4). Dependent measurement was the measured pH<sub>i</sub> of cells. Differences in means of the treatment levels were identified by Tukey's test at P<0.05. All data reported is a mean of four independent experiments, with three replications per experiment.

## Accumulation of organic acid

Accumulation of organic acid inside the cells were determined using isotopes. C<sup>14</sup> labeled lactic and acetic acid (acetic acid, sodium salt -[1-<sup>14</sup>C] and lactic acid, sodium salt, L-[<sup>14</sup>C(U)], Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA) were used as tracers to measure the amount of organic acid anion incorporated into the cell. The extremely small spike of additional C14 labeled organic acid added to the lactic and acetic acid treatments was determined to not impact the total concentration of the treatment (4.75mM for both, Table 2-2). Tritiated water (Water, [<sup>3</sup>H], Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA) was also used in each treatment. Tritiated water was used because it was assumed that it would equilibrate between the interior and the exterior of the cell, resulting in uniform distribution. The C<sup>14</sup>/H<sup>3</sup> ratio provides a means to assess the relative acid anion concentration in both the cell pellet and supernatant. C<sup>14</sup>-labeled inulin (Inulin- carboxyl, [carboxyl-<sup>14</sup>C], Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA) was also employed in an effort to determine the intracellular fraction of the pellet volume. Inulin is a water-soluble carbohydrate that is impermeable to the cell membrane (43).

For this work, 10mL of mid log cells grown in TSB were collected by centrifugation and resuspended in TSB broth adjusted to deliver one of the three individual treatment levels employed for objective 1 and 1A. (IC, LA, or AC, Table 2-2 and 2-3). Cells were incubated for one hour at 37°C with shaking (220 rpm). After incubation 0.5mL bromododecane (1-Bromododecane, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was added to the centrifuge tube. Cells were then centrifuged. Bromododecane created a layer between the supernatant and pellet after centrifugation allowing for easy decanting of the supernatant and stripping cells of external water (36).

The supernatant was decanted and diluted so that disintegrations per minute (DPM) would be similar to that of the pellet. 1mL of the diluted supernatant was added to 18mL liquid scintillation cocktail (Emulsifier Scintillator Plus, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA). The entire cell pellet was cut out of the centrifuge tube using guillotine dog nail clippers. The entire cell pellet was added to 18mL liquid scintillation cocktail along with 1mL TSB. Liquid volume in both the supernatant and pellet samples were identical (1mL) to ensure similar counting efficiency. Counts were measured using a scintillation counter (Beckman LS 6500, Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA).

#### Measurement of pHi

The pH<sub>i</sub> was determined using 5(6)-carboxyfluorescein diacetate Nsuccinimidyl ester (CFSE, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), a membrane permeant fluorescein-based dye that at 492nm is sensitive to pH (47). The first step was to determine a calibration curve that would relate fluorescent values to pH<sub>i</sub> values. A 10-uM solution of CFSE was prepared from a concentrated stock solution in DMSO by dilution in a 10mM  $KH_2PO_4$  buffer for use as the dye.

To determine how acid treatments impacted pH<sub>i</sub> we first established a calibration curve to relate cell fluorescent values to pH<sub>i</sub>. 10mL of mid log cells grown in TSB were collected by centrifugation and resuspended in 10mL CFSE staining solution (10uM) and incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. The cells were collected by centrifugation then suspended in 10mL KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> buffer (pH 6.0) supplemented with 10mM glucose (to energize the cells) and incubated at 37°C for another 30 minutes to remove unbound dye. To permeabilize cells and equilibrate intracellular and external pH for the calibration curve, the stained cells were then placed in ethanol (63%, v/v) for 30 minutes at 37°C. The dye is bound to metabolic items of the cell so after exposure to ethanol it remains bound. The bacterial cells were harvested by centrifugation and suspended in 10mL TSB broth medium whose pH was adjusted with HCl or NaOH to range from 5.0 to 8.0, in 0.5 increments.

Fluorescence was measured using a microplate fluorometric reader (Synergy H1, BioTek, Winooski, VT). The fluorescent ratio<sub>492/435</sub> was obtained by dividing fluorescence at 492 nm by that at 435 nm. These wavelengths are pH sensitive and pH insensitive, respectively (47). Undyed cells in TSB were used as a blank to correct for any naturally occurring fluorescence. The calibration curve was plotted by polynomial fitting between ratio<sub>492/435</sub> and the pH<sub>i</sub> of the equilibrated cells corresponding to the broth pH (5.0 to 8.0), respectively.

It was necessary to establish a different calibration curve for each strain because of the nature of the intracellular dye binding to molecules within the cell that could vary by strain.



**Figure 2-1.** pH<sub>i</sub> calibration curves for *L. monocytogenes* and *E. coli* at mid log phase. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

The standard error is relatively small until the higher pH values, similar to other work using the same method (16). After the curve was established, polynomial fitting was used to establish an equation for each strain relating fluorescence values (492/435nm) to pH<sub>i</sub>. See appendix B for individual strain calibration curves and equations. In each equation, y and x represent the fluorescence value and pH<sub>i</sub>, respectively. To calculate for pH<sub>i</sub> the fluorescence value (y) is used in the polynomial equation to solve for x. The R<sup>2</sup> for each equation is >0.99 which demonstrates the regression lines very closely fit the data. The last step is the conversion of measured absorbance values to pH<sub>i</sub> using the standard curve for each corresponding strain. Mid log cells were dyed in 10um CFSE then washed and energized in in KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> buffer (pH 6.0) supplemented with 10mM glucose as described above. The cells were then collected by centrifugation and suspended in TSB broth adjusted to deliver one of the four individual treatments (BC, HCl, LA, or AC). The cells were incubated at 37°C with shaking in the microplate fluorometric reader for 60 minutes then fluorescence values at 492 and 435nm were measured. pH<sub>i</sub> was calculated from the mean value plotted against the pH calibration curve.

# **Results and Discussion**

#### Acid anion accumulation

Results from acid accumulation studies are presented in figure 2-2. Across all three species, acetate anion accumulated into the cell pellet to a significantly greater extent than lactic acid. Levels of lactate in *Listeria* N1-227 and R2-499 cell pellets were 1.54 and 1.66 times higher, respectively, than supernatant levels. No significant accumulation of lactate was detected in the *E. coli* pellet. In contrast, the concentration of acetate in the cell pellet was more than two-fold greater than in the supernatant for all three bacteria. *L. monocytogenes* N1-227, R2-499, and *E. coli* 0157:H7 accumulated acetate anion 2.28, 2.41, and 2.64 times more than the supernatant respectively.





containing 4.75mM lactic acid); AC, acetic acid treatment (TSB adjusted to pH 6.0 with HCl containing 4.75mM acetic acid). Superscripts identify significant differences within strains (P<0.05). Asterisk signifies accumulation was significantly greater than 1 (CI<95%)

Prior studies report that acetic acid inhibits growth of L. *monocytogenes* more than lactic acid in terms of total acid added as weight by volume (19, 24, 49), and the results presented here suggest that this may be due to the greater accumulation of acetate. Roe. et al reported that at pH 6, growth in 8mM acetate resulted in an internal pool of 240mM acetate anion in *E. coli* (42). Results here are much lower in comparison. Thus, C<sup>14</sup> inulin was employed as a control to try and assess how much of the pellet volume was truly intracellular. The fractional volume of the pellet not available to inulin as compared to water was calculated as representative of the relative intracellular space. A fractional volume of 0.19 was identified for *E. coli*. Because *E. coli* had a measurable internal volume, an additional accumulation factor was estimated based on fractional internal volume. Total intracellular accumulation of anion was determined by dividing 1 by 0.19. The fractional volume of the *E. coli* pellet then suggests that accumulation of anion is possibly 5-fold greater than measured in the pellet. Both *L. monocytogenes* strains did not have a fractional volume significantly different from 0 suggesting it was below the detection limit of our procedure. We hypothesize that this is because it would require numerous repetitions to detect a significant fractional internal volume so close to zero. The smaller the fractional internal volume, the larger the total effect on the pellet. So while the methodology employed here was able to identify significant accumulation of organic acids into the pellet, our results with

inulin suggest that the pellet values underestimate intracellular concentrations of anion, and the true extent of anion accumulation is likely much higher than measured.

One possible explanation for not finding a significant fractional internal volume in *Listeria* may be related to past observations seen in our research. As reported by others, we have found that the OD<sub>600</sub> for these *Listeria* strains did not correlate with actual viable cell numbers (60, 79). The reason for this discrepancy is unknown, but we have hypothesized that it could be due to cell clumping, and that may play a factor in these results as well. Another explanation is that carryover of inulin may be different in Gram negative versus Gram-positive cells, possibly explaining the difference in measured fractional internal volume between *Listeria* and *E. coli*. Gram negative bacteria, like *E. coli*, have a periplasm that serves as a multipurpose compartment separate from the cytoplasm (73). The periplasm can have a different pH than the cytoplasm (32). This periplasm may play a role in the difference seen in fractional internal volume.

## pH<sub>i</sub> values

Results from pH<sub>i</sub> studies are presented in Figure 2-3. Under these conditions, most of the organic acids would be in the undissociated anion form in the cells because their pKa < pHi (10). Acetic acid exposure resulted in a significantly lower (P<0.05) pH<sub>i</sub> compared to exposure to the baseline control in both *Listeria* species (Figure 2-3). In N1-227 cells, the acid control and lactic acid were intermediate (not significantly different) from the baseline control or acetic acid. In contrast, all three acid treatments resulted in a significantly lower pH<sub>i</sub> in R2-499 cells in comparison to the baseline control. Exposure to the acetic acid treatment resulted in a significantly lower pH<sub>i</sub> than cells in the acid control in R2-499, while the pH<sub>i</sub> in cells given the lactic acid treatment was intermediate between that of cells from the acid control or acetic acid treatment. Both *Listeria* strains lowered pH<sub>i</sub> in response to acetic acid. Lowering pH<sub>i</sub> is a mechanism known to combat external acidity and intracellular anion accumulation (69, 70).



**Figure 2-3.** pH<sub>i</sub> values of *L. monocytogenes* N1-227, *L. monocytogenes* R2-499, and *E. coli* O157:H7 after one hour in habituation treatment media. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. Treatment details: BC, baseline control (TSB pH 7.4); HCl, pH control (TSB adjusted to pH 6.0 with HCl); LA, lactic acid treatment (TSB adjusted to pH 6.0 with HCl); AC, acetic acid treatment (TSB adjusted to pH 6.0 with HCl containing 4.75mM acetic acid). Superscripts identify significant differences within strains.

Only strain R2-499 lowered pHi to combat just external acidity. It has not

previously been reported that Listeria would lower its pHi in response to just

external acidity (8, 45, 78). This finding has been reported in lactic acid bacteria (78). N1-227 lowered pH<sub>i</sub> significantly from the baseline control when exposed to the added stress of external acid, and only acetic acid. The cells may have alternative methods to combat lactate accumulation such as export mechanisms. Both lactate and acetate are part of normal metabolism in *L. monocytogenes* (74, 77).

*E. coli* O157:H7 pH<sub>i</sub> did not significantly change in response to any of the four treatments (Figure 2-3). This finding is in agreement with past studies that reported *E. coli* pH<sub>i</sub> rapidly drops after exposure to acid before recovering within 5 minutes (35). Based on the pH<sub>i</sub>, *E. coli* would be expected to accumulate acid anions to a much greater extent than both *Listeria* strains. In contrast, this research found that *E. coli* accumulated acetate at a level that was comparable to both *Listeria* strains, and accumulated even less lactate than either *Listeria* strain. *E. coli* may largely rely on other means to combat the accumulation of anion rather than lowering pH<sub>i</sub>. For example, the cells may change their membrane composition or upregulate export mechanisms (75, 76).

#### **Conclusions & Further Research**

This study used two parallel experiments to investigate how *L*. *monocytogenes* and *E. coli* 0157:H7 respond to organic acids in mildly acidic pH environments. The two *Listeria* strains, exposed to the same conditions, has been studied previously. This research builds on a long history with these two strains, while *E. coli* was used as an outside "control" and has been studied by other researchers. Results from this study increases the understanding of the organic acid response in these species and builds on the knowledge of the physiology of these two *Listeria* species. Understanding their physiology and how they combat exposure to organic acids may impact how they are applied and used in the food industry as antimicrobials.

Our results suggest the potential of these strains surviving organic acid exposure through various mechanisms, including lowering pH<sub>i</sub> to combat intracellular anion accumulation. Results indicate acetate and lactate anion were accumulated into cells significantly more than their environment in both strains of *Listeria*, while only acetate anion was significantly accumulated in *E. coli*. Results from the inulin control indicate that intracellular anion accumulation is likely much higher than measured.

We also found that organic acid exposure induces a significant drop in *Listeria* pH<sub>i</sub>, but not in *E. coli* O157:H7 (P<0.05, ANOVA). These strains of *E. coli* and *Listeria* may have different mechanisms to combat intracellular acid anion accumulation. *Listeria* may lower pH<sub>i</sub> as a mechanism accumulation. *E. coli* may largely rely on other means to combat the accumulation of anion rather than lowering pH<sub>i</sub>. It is hypothesized that these two strains of *Listeria* may have specific mechanisms to handle lactate but not acetate, and may be more effective at combating lactate than acetate. Additional research needs to be done at different external pH and external acid concentrations to truly understand their physiological response to the organic acids, and more strains would need to be studied to make a broader conclusion.

It is also worthwhile to note that these results bring into question the risks of using intracellular anion accumulation as a measure of  $pH_i$  as done in previous

36

studies (28, 42). The methodology employed in these studies was based on independent measures of pH<sub>i</sub> and intracellular anion accumulation, and the results found here brings into question the common, but confounding, practice of using intracellular anion accumulation as a measure of pH<sub>i</sub>, and vice versa. The risks of doing so include differences in how various species may handle acid exposure and accumulation of anions.

Future research should track changes in intracellular anion accumulation and pH<sub>i</sub> over time, and in response to external pH, to better understand their interaction. All of the experiments done here were at mildly acidic pH 6, excluding the baseline control. It would be interesting to see how time and external pH effect these variables, including inulin accumulation into the pellet. In this study we did not find that *E. coli* employed lowering its pH<sub>i</sub>. However, it could also be that *E. coli* lowers pH<sub>i</sub> initially to provide a general protection from anion accumulation into the cells until it can ramp up other specific systems such as export systems or nonspecific systems such as membrane changes to combat anion accumulation (75, 76). This study may have missed any initial lowering of pH<sub>i</sub> because the cells had 60 minutes to adjust. Additional research should also be done to better define intracellular volume utilizing inulin. Finally, our lab has previously studied transcriptomic data of the two *Listeria* strains exposed to these conditions. It would be useful to reexamine that transcriptomic data in connection with these results.

#### REFERENCES

- Akiba, M., Sameshima, T., & Nakazawa, M. (2000). Clonal turnover of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 in experimentally infected cattle. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *184*(1), 79–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2000.tb08994.x
- Algino, R. J., Ingham, S. C., & Zhu, J. (2007). Survey of antimicrobial effects of beef carcass intervention treatments in very small state-inspected slaughter plants. *Journal of Food Science*, *72*(5), M173–M179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00386.x
- Archer, D. (2018). The evolution of FDA's policy on Listeria monocytogenes in ready-to-eat foods in the United States. *Current Opinion in Food Science, 20,* 64-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2018.03.007
- Berry, E. D., & Cutter, C. N. (2000). Effects of acid adaptation of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 on efficacy of acetic acid spray washes to decontaminate beef carcass tissue. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(4), 1493–1498.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.4.1493-1498.2000

 Booth I. R. (1985). Regulation of cytoplasmic pH in bacteria. *Microbiological Reviews*, 49(4), 359–378. https://doi.org/10.1128/mr.49.4.359-378.1985

- Breeuwer, P., Drocourt, J., Rombouts, F. M., & Abee, T. (1996). A Novel Method for Continuous Determination of the Intracellular pH in Bacteria with the Internally Conjugated Fluorescent Probe 5 (and 6-)-Carboxyfluorescein Succinimidyl Ester. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *62*(1), 178–183. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.62.1.178-183.1996
- Bucur, F. I., Grigore-Gurgu, L., Crauwels, P., Riedel, C. U., & Nicolau, A. I. (2018). Resistance of Listeria monocytogenes to Stress Conditions Encountered in Food and Food Processing Environments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*, 2700. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02700
- Budde, B. B., & Jakobsen, M. (2000). Real-time measurements of the interaction between single cells of Listeria monocytogenes and nisin on a solid surface. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(8), 3586–3591. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.8.3586-3591.2000
- Canton, J., & Grinstein, S. (2015). Measuring lysosomal pH by fluorescence microscopy. *Methods in Cell Biology*, *126*, 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mcb.2014.10.021
- 10. Carpenter, C. E., & Broadbent, J. R. (2009). External concentration of organic acid anions and pH: key independent variables for studying how organic acids inhibit growth of bacteria in mildly acidic foods. *Journal of Food Science*, 74(1), R12–R15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2008.00994.x

11. Castanie-Cornet, M. P., Penfound, T. A., Smith, D., Elliott, J. F., & Foster, J. W. (1999). Control of acid resistance in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *181*(11), 3525–3535.
https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.181.11.3525-3535.1999

12. Castellazzi, M., Marchisio, P., & Bosis, S. (2018). Listeria monocytogenes meningitis in immunocompetent and healthy children: a case report and a review of the literature. *Italian Journal of Pediatrics, 44*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-018-0595-5

13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). E. coli (Escherichia coli)- Questions and Answers.

https://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/general/index.html

- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). *Listeria (Listeriosis)-Questions and Answers*. https://www.cdc.gov/listeria/faq.html
- 15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *E. coli* (*Escherichia coli*)- *Symptoms*. https://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/ecoli-symptoms.html
- 16. Cheng, C., Yang, Y., Dong, Z., Wang, X., Fang, C., Yang, M., Sun, J., Xiao, L., Fang, W., & Song, H. (2015). Listeria monocytogenes varies among strains to maintain intracellular pH homeostasis under stresses by different acids as analyzed by a high-throughput microplate-based fluorometry. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *6*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00015
- 17. Cotter, P. D., Gahan, C. G., & Hill, C. (2000). Analysis of the role of the Listeria monocytogenes F0F1 -AtPase operon in the acid tolerance

response. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *60*(2-3), 137–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-1605(00)00305-6

- 18. Dziezak, J.D. (2016). Acids: Natural Acids and Acidulants. *Encyclopedia of Food and Health*, 15-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384947-2.00004-0
- Farber, J., Sanders, G., Dunfield, S., & Prescott, R. (1989). The effect of various acidulants on the growth of Listeria monocytogenes. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 9(5), 181-183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.1989.tb00319.x
- 20. Farber, J. M., & Peterkin, P. I. (1991). Listeria monocytogenes, a food-borne pathogen. *Microbiological Reviews*, 55(3), 476–511.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/mr.55.3.476-511.1991
- 21. Feehily, C., Finnerty, A., Casey, P. G., Hill, C., Gahan, C. G., O'Byrne, C. P., & Karatzas, K. A. (2014). Divergent evolution of the activity and regulation of the glutamate decarboxylase systems in Listeria monocytogenes EGD-e and 10403S: roles in virulence and acid tolerance. *PloS One*, *9*(11), e112649. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112649
- 22. FDA. (2012). Bad Bug Book, Foodborne Pathogenic Microorganisms and Natural Toxins, Second Edition. 99-103.
- Freitag, N. E., Port, G. C., & Miner, M. D. (2009). Listeria monocytogenes from saprophyte to intracellular pathogen. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, 7(9), 623–628. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2171

24. George, S. M., Richardson, L. C., & Peck, M. W. (1996). Predictive models of the effect of temperature, pH and acetic and lactic acids on the growth of Listeria monocytogenes. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *32*(1-2), 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1605(96)01108-7

25. Gérard, Amaury & El-Hajjaji, Soundous & Eugène, Niyonzima & Daube, Georges & Sindic, M. (2018). Prevalence and survival of Listeria monocytogenes in various types of cheese—A review. *International Journal of Dairy Technology*, 71(4), 825-843. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0307.12552

- 26. Han, J., & Burgess, K. (2010). Fluorescent indicators for intracellular pH. *Chemical Reviews*, *110*(5), 2709–2728. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr900249z
- Hosein, A. M., Breidt, F., Jr, & Smith, C. E. (2011). Modeling the effects of sodium chloride, acetic acid, and intracellular pH on survival of Escherichia coli 0157:H7. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(3), 889–895. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02136-10
- 28. Kroll, R. G., & Booth, I. R. (1981). The role of potassium transport in the generation of a pH gradient in Escherichia coli. *The Biochemical Journal*, *198*(3), 691–698. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj1980691

29. LeJeune, J. T., Besser, T. E., & Hancock, D. D. (2001). Cattle water troughs as reservoirs of Escherichia coli 0157. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(7), 3053–3057.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.7.3053-3057.2001

- 30. Li, M., Carpenter, C. E., & Broadbent, J. R. (2021). Organic Acid Exposure Enhances Virulence in Some Listeria monocytogenes Strains Using the Galleria mellonella Infection Model. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*, 675241. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.675241
- 31. Lim, J. Y., Yoon, J., & Hovde, C. J. (2010). A brief overview of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 and its plasmid 0157. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 20(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.4014/jmb.0908.08007
- 32. Lund, P., Tramonti, A., & De Biase, D. (2014). Coping with low pH:
  molecular strategies in neutralophilic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 38(6), 1091–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12076
- 33. Madjunkov, M., Chaudhry, S., & Ito, S. (2017). Listeriosis during pregnancy. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics, 296(2), 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-017-4401-1
- 34. Mani-López, E. & Garcia, Hugo & López-Malo, Aurelio. (2012). Organic acids as antimicrobial to control Salmonella in meat and poultry products. *Food Research International 45*(2), 713-721. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.04.043

35. Martinez, K.A., Kitko, R.D., Mershon, J., Adcox, H.E., Malek, K., Berkmen, M.B., & Slonczewski, J. (2012). Cytoplasmic pH Response to Acid Stress in Individual Cells of Escherichia coli and Bacillus subtilis Observed by Fluorescence Ratio Imaging Microscopy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 78*, 3706 - 3714. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00354-12

- 36. McLaggan, D., Naprstek, J., Buurman, E. T., & Epstein, W. (1994). Interdependence of K+ and glutamate accumulation during osmotic adaptation of Escherichia coli. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(3), 1911–1917. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(17)42113-2
- 37. Mead, P. S., Slutsker, L., Dietz, V., McCaig, L. F., Bresee, J. S., Shapiro, C., Griffin, P. M., & Tauxe, R. V. (1999). Food-related illness and death in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 5(5), 607–625. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0505.990502
- 38. Melton-Celsa, A. R., Darnell, S. C., & O'Brien, A. D. (1996). Activation of Shiga-like toxins by mouse and human intestinal mucus correlates with virulence of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O91:H21 isolates in orally infected, streptomycin-treated mice. *Infection and Immunity*, 64(5), 1569–1576. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.64.5.1569-1576.1996
- 39. Parish C. R. (1999). Fluorescent dyes for lymphocyte migration and proliferation studies. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 77(6), 499–508. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1711.1999.00877.x
- 40. Popovic, I., Heron, B., & Covacin, C. (2014). Listeria: an Australian perspective (2001-2010). *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, *11*(6), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1089/fpd.2013.1697
- 41. Putnam R.W., & Roos A. (2011). Intracellular pH. *Comprehensive Physiology*, 301-321. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.cp140109
- 42. Roe, A. J., McLaggan, D., Davidson, I., O'Byrne, C., & Booth, I. R. (1998). Perturbation of anion balance during inhibition of growth of Escherichia

coli by weak acids. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *180*(4), 767–772. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.180.4.767-772.1998

- 43. Rottenberg H. (1979). The measurement of membrane potential and delta pH in cells, organelles, and vesicles. *Methods in Enzymology*, *55*, 547–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(79)55066-6
- 44. Ryser E.T., & Marth E.H. (2007). *Listeria, listeriosis, and food safety.* CRC Press.
- 45. Shabala, L., Budde, B., Ross, T., Siegumfeldt, H., Jakobsen, M., & McMeekin, T. (2002). Responses of Listeria monocytogenes to acid stress and glucose availability revealed by a novel combination of fluorescence microscopy and microelectrode ion-selective techniques. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(4), 1794–1802.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.4.1794-1802.2002

- 46. Shahamat, M., Seaman, A., & Woodbine, M. (1980). Survival of Listeria monocytogenes in high salt concentrations. *Zentralblatt fur Bakteriologie. 1. Abt. Originale. A: Medizinische Mikrobiologie, Infektionskrankheiten und Parasitologie, 246*(4), 506–511. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0172-5599(80)80085-X
- 47. Siegumfeldt, H., Rechinger, K. B., & Jakobsen, M. (1999). Use of fluorescence ratio imaging for intracellular pH determination of individual bacterial cells in mixed cultures. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, *145 ( Pt 7)*, 1703–1709. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-145-7-1703

- 48. Skandamis, P. N., Gounadaki, A. S., Geornaras, I., & Sofos, J. N. (2012).
  Adaptive acid tolerance response of Listeria monocytogenes strains under planktonic and immobilized growth conditions. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 159(2), 160–166.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.07.027
- 49. Sorrells, K. M., Enigl, D. C., & Hatfield, J. R. (1989). Effect of pH, Acidulant, Time, and Temperature on the Growth and Survival of Listeria monocytogenes. *Journal of Food Protection*, *52*(8), 571–573. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-52.8.571
- 50. Tamburro, M., Sammarco, M. L., Fanelli, I., & Ripabelli, G. (2019). Characterization of Listeria monocytogenes serovar 1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c and 4b by high resolution melting analysis for epidemiological investigations. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *310*, 108289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2019.108289
- 51. Theron, M., & Lues, J. (2007). Organic Acids and Meat Preservation: A Review. *Food Reviews International*, 23, 141 - 158. https://doi.org/10.1080/87559120701224964
- 52. Thompson, R. L., Carpenter, C. E., Martini, S., & Broadbent, J. R. (2008). Control of Listeria monocytogenes in ready-to-eat meats containing sodium levulinate, sodium lactate, or a combination of sodium lactate and sodium diacetate. *Journal of Food Science*, *73*(5), M239–M244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2008.00786.x

- 53. Wang, C., Chang, T., Yang, H., & Cui, M. (2015). Antibacterial mechanism of lactic acid on physiological and morphological properties of Salmonella enteritidis, Escherichia coli and Listeria monocytogenes. *Food Control, 47*: 231-236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.06.034
- 54. Weis, J., & Seeliger, H. P. (1975). Incidence of Listeria monocytogenes in nature. *Applied Microbiology*, *30*(1), 29–32.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/am.30.1.29-32.1975
- 55. Werbrouck, H., Vermeulen, A., Van Coillie, E., Messens, W., Herman, L., Devlieghere, F., & Uyttendaele, M. (2009). Influence of acid stress on survival, expression of virulence genes and invasion capacity into Caco-2 cells of Listeria monocytogenes strains of different origins. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 134(1-2), 140–146.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.03.022

- 56. Wilks, J. C., & Slonczewski, J. L. (2007). pH of the cytoplasm and periplasm of Escherichia coli: rapid measurement by green fluorescent protein fluorimetry. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *189*(15), 5601–5607. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00615-07
- 57. Wu, S. Tongyu, Hammons, S. R, Silver, R., Neal, J. A, & Oliver, H. F. (2020). Retail deli managers and associates have better food safety culture in stores with lower Listeria monocytogenes contamination. *Food Control, 110.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2019.106983
- 58. Yang, S. C., Lin, C. H., Aljuffali, I. A., & Fang, J. Y. (2017). Current pathogenic Escherichia coli foodborne outbreak cases and therapy

development. *Archives of Microbiology*, *199*(6), 811–825. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-017-1393-y

- 59. Yin, Y., Tan, W., Wang, G., Kong, S., Zhou, X., Zhao, D., Jia, Y., Pan, Z., & Jiao, X. (2015). Geographical and longitudinal analysis of Listeria monocytogenes genetic diversity reveals its correlation with virulence and unique evolution. *Microbiological Research*, *175*, 84–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2015.04.002
- 60. Zhang, Y., Carpenter, C. E., Broadbent, J. R., & Luo, X. (2014). Habituation to organic acid anions induces resistance to acid and bile in Listeria monocytogenes. *Meat Science*, 96(3), 1152–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.10.034
- 61. Zhang, Y., Carpenter, C., Broadbent, J., & Luo, X. (2015). Influence of habituation to inorganic and organic acid conditions on the cytoplasmic membrane composition of Listeria monocytogenes. *Food Control, 55*, 49-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.02.039
- 62. Jensen, D. A., Friedrich, L. M., Harris, L. J., Danyluk, M. D., & Schaffner, D. W. (2015). Cross contamination of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 between lettuce and wash water during home-scale washing. *Food Microbiology*, *46*, 428–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2014.08.025
- 63. Ramaswamy, V., Cresence, V. M., Rejitha, J. S., Lekshmi, M. U., Dharsana, K. S., Prasad, S. P., & Vijila, H. M. (2007). Listeria--review of epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology, and Infection,* 40(1), 4–13.

64. Colagiorgi, A., Bruini, I., Di Ciccio, P. A., Zanardi, E., Ghidini, S., & Ianieri, A.
(2017). Listeria monocytogenes Biofilms in the Wonderland of Food
Industry. *Pathogens*, 6(3), 41.

65. Lecuit M. (2007). Human listeriosis and animal models. *Microbes and Infection*, 9(10), 1216–1225.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2007.05.009

https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens6030041

- 66. Tack, D. M., Marder, E. P., Griffin, P. M., Cieslak, P. R., Dunn, J., Hurd, S., Scallan, E., Lathrop, S., Muse, A., Ryan, P., Smith, K., Tobin-D'Angelo, M., Vugia, D. J., Holt, K. G., Wolpert, B. J., Tauxe, R., & Geissler, A. L. (2019). Preliminary Incidence and Trends of Infections with Pathogens Transmitted Commonly Through Food - Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network, 10 U.S. Sites, 2015-2018. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *68*(16), 369–373. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6816a2
- 67. Hurley, B. P., Thorpe, C. M., & Acheson, D. W. (2001). Shiga toxin translocation across intestinal epithelial cells is enhanced by neutrophil transmigration. *Infection and Immunity*, 69(10), 6148–6155.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.10.6148-6155.2001
- 68. FSIS. (2014). FSIS Compliance Guideline: Controlling Listeria monocytogenes in Post-lethality Exposed Ready-to-Eat Meat and Poultry Products. Food Safety and Inspection Service.

- 69. Diez-Gonzalez, F., & Russell, J. B. (1997). The ability of Escherichia coli 0157:H7 to decrease its intracellular pH and resist the toxicity of acetic acid. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, *143 (Pt 4)*, 1175–1180. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-143-4-1175
- 70. Russell, J. (1992). Another explanation for the toxicity of fermentation acids at low pH: anion accumulation versus uncoupling. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 73, 363-370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.1992.tb04990.x
- McLaggan, D., Naprstek, J., Buurman, E. T., & Epstein, W. (1994). Interdependence of K+ and glutamate accumulation during osmotic adaptation of Escherichia coli. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(3), 1911–1917. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(17)42113-2
- 72. Pizarro-Cerda J., & Cossart P. (2019). Microbe Profile: Listeria monocytogenes: a paradigm among intracellular bacterial pathogens. *Microbiology* 165(7): 719-721. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.000800
- 73. Miller, S. I., & Salama, N. R. (2018). The gram-negative bacterial periplasm: Size matters. *PLoS Biology*, *16*(1), e2004935. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2004935
- 74. Wallace, N., Newton, E., Abrams, E., Zani, A., & Sun, Y. (2017). Metabolic determinants in Listeria monocytogenes anaerobic listeriolysin 0 production. *Archives of Microbiology*, *199*(6), 827–837. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-017-1355-4

- 75. De Jonge, R., Takumi, K., Ritmeester, W. S., & van Leusden, F. M. (2003). The adaptive response of Escherichia coli 0157 in an environment with changing pH. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 94(4), 555–560. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.01865.x
- 76. Guan, N., & Liu, L. (2020). Microbial response to acid stress: mechanisms and applications. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 104(1), 51–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-019-10226-1
- 77. Kelly, A. F., & Patchett, R. A. (1996). Lactate and acetate production in Listeria innocua. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, *23*(2), 125–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765x.1996.tb00046.x
- 78. Siegumfeldt, H., Björn Rechinger, K., & Jakobsen, M. (2000). Dynamic changes of intracellular pH in individual lactic acid bacterium cells in response to a rapid drop in extracellular pH. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(6), 2330–2335.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.6.2330-2335.2000

- 79. Garner, M.R., James, K., Callahan, M., Wiedmann, M., & Boor, K. (2006). Exposure to Salt and Organic Acids Increases the Ability of Listeria monocytogenes To Invade Caco-2 Cells but Decreases Its Ability To Survive Gastric Stress. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72, 5384 -5395. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00764-06
- 80. Romick, T. L., & Fleming, H. P. (1998). Acetoin production as an indicator of growth and metabolic inhibition of Listeria monocytogenes. *Journal of*

*Applied Microbiology*, *84*(1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.1997.00302.x

- 81. Pieterse, B., Leer, R. J., Schuren, F., & van der Werf, M. J. (2005).
  Unravelling the multiple effects of lactic acid stress on Lactobacillus plantarum by transcription profiling. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, *151*(Pt 12), 3881–3894. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.28304-0
- 82. Buchanan R.L., Golden M.H., Whiting R.C., Phillips J.G., & Smith J.L. (1994). Non-thermal inactivation models for Listeria monocytogenes. *Journal of Food Science* 59(1):179–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1994.tb06928.x

# **APPENDICES**

# Appendix A: Anova Data- Measurement of pH<sub>i</sub>

Table A-1.	ANOVA for measurement of pH <sub>i</sub> in <i>L. monocytogenes</i> R2-499 with sing	le
treatment o	habituation media that included four levels; BC, HCL, LA and AC.	

SUMMARY					
Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance	
R2-499 BC	8	64.2	8.025	0.1619	
R2-499 HCl	8	60.21	7.5263	0.1239	
R2-499 LA	8	54.62	6.8275	0.8399	
R2-499 AC	8	51.88	6.485	0.7806	
ANOVA					
Source of					
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	va

Source of					P-		
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	value	F crit	
Between Groups	11.488	3	3.8294	8.0353	0.0005	2.9467	
Within Groups	13.344	28	0.4766				
Total	24.832	31					

**Table A-2.** ANOVA for measurement of  $pH_i$  in *L. monocytogenes* N1-227 with single treatment of habituation media that included four levels; BC, HCL, LA and AC.

SUMMARY				
Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
N1-227 BC	8	59.84	7.48	0.2645
N1-227 HCl	8	58.23	7.2788	1.1004
N1-227 LA	8	54.8	6.85	1.3141
N1-227 AC	8	52.74	6.5925	0.7028

ANOVA						
Source of					<i>P</i> -	
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	value	F crit
Between Groups	3.8923	3	1.2974	1.5346	0.2274	2.9467
Within Groups	23.672	28	0.8454			
_						
Total	27.564	31				

**Table A-3.** ANOVA for measurement of  $pH_i$  in *E. coli* O157:H7 with single treatment of habituation media that included four levels; BC, HCL, LA and AC.

SUMMARY				
Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
0157: H7 BC	8	64.66	8.0825	0.1101
0157:H7HCl	8	63.85	7.9813	0.1079
0157:H7 LA	8	63.7	7.9625	0.0142
0157:H7AC	8	62.67	7.8338	0.1433

ANOVA						
Source of					<i>P</i> -	
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	value	F crit
Between Groups	0.2504	3	0.0835	0.8892	0.4588	2.9467
Within Groups	2.6286	28	0.0939			
Total	2.879	31				



# Appendix B: Additional Data from Measurement of pHi

**Figure B-1.** Polynomial fitting for strain *L. monocytogenes* N1-227 at mid log. Dotted line is the fitted regression line.



**Figure B-2.** Polynomial fitting for strain *L. monocytogenes* R2-499 at mid log. Dotted line is the fitted regression line.



**Figure B-3.** Polynomial fitting for strain *E. coli* O157:H7 at mid log. Dotted line is the fitted regression line.

The pH<sub>i</sub> values of the *L. monocytogenes* strains were initially monitored every ten minutes over the course of one hour to see how they changed over time (Figures B-4 and B-5). All data is an average of triplicate wells, and the experiment was run four times.



**Figure B-4.** Preliminary results for *L. monocytogenes* N1-227 from tracking pH<sub>i</sub> over time.

Error bars represent standard error of the mean.


**Figure B-5.** Preliminary results for *L. monocytogenes* R2-499 from tracking pH<sub>i</sub> over time. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

Results shown in Figures B-4 and B-5 indicate that the cells need time to equilibrate and stabilize pH<sub>i</sub> while adapting to the habituation treatments. This is especially noticeable in the baseline control, which drops to a lower pH by twenty minutes consistently in both strains before pH<sub>i</sub> rises again. We could not determine if the pH<sub>i</sub> is actually changing early on or if it is an artifact of the dye stabilizing relative to other adaptions of cellular metabolism. The cells appear to stabilize by 40-60 minutes, as indicated by the graph and standard error bars. Based on these findings, we decided pH<sub>i</sub> measurements in future experiments should be collected after one hour in habituation media.

## Appendix C: T-Tests from Accumulation of Organic Acid & Inulin

**Table C-1.** T-test for accumulation of organic acid in *L. monocytogenes* R2-499 with single treatment of habituation media that included two levels, lactic and acetic acid

L. monocytogenes R2-499		
	Lactic	Acetic
	Acid	Acid
Mean	1.6617234	2.4078
Variance	0.1923734	0.7257
Observations	18	18
Pooled Variance	0.4590387	
Hypothesized Mean		
Difference	0	
df	34	
t Stat	-3.303734	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.0011267	
t Critical one-tail	1.6909243	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.0022534	
t Critical two-tail	2.0322445	

t-Test: Two-Sample Assuming Equal Variances

**Table C-2.** T-test for accumulation of organic acid in *L. monocytogenes* N1-227 with singletreatment of habituation media that included two levels, lactic and acetic acid

	Lactic acid	Acetic acid
Mean	1.542025829	2.27860572
Variance	0.094581064	0.39473445
Observations	18	18
Pooled Variance	0.244657756	
Hypothesized Mean		
Difference	0	
df	34	
	-	
t Stat	4.467469739	
P(T<=t) one-tail	4.16345E-05	
t Critical one-tail	1.690924255	
P(T<=t) two-tail	8.3269E-05	
t Critical two-tail	2.032244509	

t-Test: Two-Sample Assuming Equal Variances *L. monocytogenes* N1-227

**Table C-3.** T-test for accumulation of organic acid in *Escherichia coli O157:H7* with single treatment of habituation media that included two levels, lactic and acetic acid

	Lactic acid	Acetic acid
Mean	0.95369419	2.642461
Variance	0.01250465	0.462054
Observations	18	18
Pooled Variance	0.23727928	
Hypothesized Mean		
Difference	0	
df	34	
t Stat	-10.400662	
P(T<=t) one-tail	2.1126E-12	
t Critical one-tail	1.69092426	
P(T<=t) two-tail	4.2252E-12	
t Critical two-tail	2.03224451	

t-Test: Two-Sample Assuming Equal Variances *E. coli* 0157:H7

**Table C-4**. T-test from inulin control comparing *L. monocytogenes* N1-227 supernatant &pellet

L. monocytogenes N1-227

L. MONOCYLOYENES N1-227		
	SUP	PEL
Mean	0.228696	0.269221
Variance	0.001249	0.010339
Observations	18	18
Pooled Variance	0.005794	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	34	
t Stat	-1.59716	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.059742	
t Critical one-tail	1.690924	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.119485	
t Critical two-tail	2.032245	

**Table C-5.** T-test from inulin control comparing *L. monocytogenes* R2-499 supernatant &pellet

t-Test: Two-Sample Assuming Equal Variances
L. monocytogenes R2-499

	SUP	PEL
Mean	0.222636	0.269221
Variance	0.000954	0.010339
Observations	18	18
Pooled Variance	0.005646	
Hypothesized Mean Difference	0	
df	34	
t Stat	-1.85988	
P(T<=t) one-tail	0.035786	
t Critical one-tail	1.690924	
P(T<=t) two-tail	0.071572	
t Critical two-tail	2.032245	

<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7		
	SUP	PEL
Mean	0.171279356	0.132260669
Variance	0.000134141	0.000799938
Observations	18	18
Pooled Variance	0.00046704	
Hypothesized Mean		
Difference	0	
df	34	
t Stat	5.41647947	
P(T<=t) one-tail	2.47093E-06	
t Critical one-tail	1.690924255	
P(T<=t) two-tail	4.94E-06	
t Critical two-tail	2.032244509	

t-Test: Two-Sample Assuming Equal Variances

**Table C-6**. T test from inulin control comparing *E. coli* 0157:H7 supernatant & pellet

65